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Mineralisation styles targeted during the period  included:  
• Iron – magnetite mineralisation (Bullamine project) 
• Uranium (Tanami, Balta and Edward Creek projects) 
• Copper-uranium-gold (Edward Creek Base Metals Joint Venture) 
• Sediment hosted sulfide-gold mineralisation (Chiltern gold project) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Iron  Exploration 
 
Bullamine Project     Western Australia              RLC 100% Fe 
 
Within the Bullamine project the Company is investigating iron ore development opportunities 70 
kilometres east of Perth, Western Australia.  RLC’s objective is to identify ironstone units which can be 
mined by open pit methods and demonstrate viability for annual production of 0.5 million tonnes iron 
concentrates by low-cost, open cut mining methods. Existing rail service and short distance, 90 kilometres, 
to bulk cargo facilities at Fremantle Ports’ Kwinana facility south of Perth is a significant attribute of the 
project.  RLC believes that provided suitable mineralisation can be identified and accessed, the possibility 
of low cost mining, processing and transport suggest that mining iron at rates as low as 0.5 million tonnes 
per annum could provide the Company with working capital.   
 
A reverse circulation (“RC”) drilling programme was conducted in November to commence 
investigating the significance of magnetic anomalies identified in airborne data collected during 
the previous period. The drilling comprised 13 RC holes each to nominal 60 metres down-hole 
depth for total 803 metres at the Cleansweep target. The holes sought to test an 800 metre long 
section of a magnetic anomaly for which drill access had been obtained.   
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Figure 1.  Bullamine project 
 
The drilling intersected bands of unweathered magnetite at depths exceeding 35 metres below 
surface, which testing has showed is capable of producing a high grade iron concentrate with 
low levels of impurities (table 1). Encouraging results of processing tests on weathered 
magnetite, intersected at depths less than 35 metres below surface were also received. These 
results indicated that some of the shallow and weathered magnetite mineralisation could be 
upgraded to potentially marketable product. 

 

Table 1.  Assay results for 2 concentrates (Davis Tube Recovery at +45 micron) from intervals of fresh Banded Iron 

Formation at the Cleansweep target, Bullamine project.   All holes dip 600 to 2450 azimuth. 
 
 
 
 
 

Assay by ALS Chemex. 
 

Outcropping exposures of the target banded iron formations generally indicated a steep easterly 
dip at Cleansweep, however modelling of magnetic data indicated a steep westerly dip. Further 
drilling is planned at Cleansweep to better resolve how the occurrences of mineralisation relate 
to airborne magnetic data and to determine whether sufficient mineralisation exists at 

Borehole Interval 
(dow nhole)

Total  Fe 
recovered 

Fe   in 
concentrate

SiO2 Al2O3 TiO2 Mn CaO P MgO K2O LOI 

% % % % % % % % % % %
5 42 to 50 m 93.3 70.0 1.3 1.0 0.3 0.10 0.0 0.00 0.2 0.04 -3.7
6 85 to 90 m 90.5 69.4 1.9 1.5 0.2 0.16 0.1 0.00 0.3 0.01 -3.2
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Cleansweep to warrant mining. Drilling is also planned at additional targets and, at the time of 
writing, land owner consents had been obtained for additional targets covering a combined 
interpreted strike length of 2.5 kilometres.   
 
 
 
Uranium Exploration:  
 
Tanami Project   (Pedestal Hill)      -     URANIUM & GOLD            Northern Territory   RLC 100%  
 
The Tanami project is within the Tanami region located on the Western Australian border, west from 
Tennant Creek. Exploration is planned on the area of the Pedestal Hill tenement application (ELA 24885) 
following its grant to RLC. The area is prospective for uranium and gold. There are similarities in 
geological setting, formation processes, age of burial and mineralisation between uranium bearing 
horizons in the Killi Killi Hills area, located 80 kilometres north of ELA 24885 (see figure 2) and the 
unconformity-associated uranium deposits in the Pine Creek Inlier (Ranger, Jabiluka) and Athabasca 
Basin (Canada). In addition, the Tanami region is the largest gold producing region in the Northern 
Territory. The three main goldfields in the region are: Dead Bullock Soak Goldfield, which hosts the Callie 
Gold Mine (19.5 Mt @ 6.3 g/t gold – total resource at 31/6/1998), The Granites Goldfield and The Tanami 
Goldfield.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2.  Tanami project. 

 

During the period, analysis of geophysical data covering the Western Australian portion of the project area 
resulted in the Company withdrawing from the U3O8 Joint Venture and, subsequent to the end of the 
Financial Year, surrendering the Bloodwood tenement (E80/3860), in order to focus continued exploration 
within the Pedestal Hill tenement area (ELA24885 under application and covering 272 square kilometres) 
in the Northern Territory.  
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The geological setting of the Pedestal Hill area has similarities with the Ngalia Basin located 300 
kilometres to the south-east and which contains the Bigrlyi uranium deposit (13,107 t  of U3O8  ) – owned 
and under development by ASX listed Energy Metals Limited. The Pedestal Hill area is considered by RLC 
to be prospective for sandstone-type deposits associated with either organic matter or roll-front deposits 
with uranium deposited across a reduction/oxidation (or “redox”) gradient.  Such deposits may be 
precipitated and concentrated along unconformities and ancient, now buried, rivers within Proterozoic and 
younger sedimentary sequences overlying older basement rocks.  
   
Negotiations for consent to explore and mine within the tenement application progressed during the 
financial year. A draft Exploration Access agreement setting out terms and conditions under which RLC 
would be permitted to explore and mine uranium and gold on ELA 24885 was received from the Central 
Lands Council in May. It is expected that the tenement will be granted following execution of an 
Exploration Access agreement.   

 

 

Edward Creek Project  - URANIUM & COPPER–GOLD-URANIUM     South Australia         RLC 100%  
 
Exploration at Edward Creek is for uranium and for copper-gold-uranium on the north eastern margin of 
the Gawler Craton in South Australia. The project area incorporates EL 3250 and EL 3886 (684 square 
kilometres) and lies within the South Australian iron-oxide copper-gold (“IOCG”) province which contains 
the world’s largest uranium mine – BHP Billiton’s Olympic Dam Mine (2.3 Mt of U3O8 ). The Edward Creek 
project is 250 kilometres north-west from the Olympic Dam mine and 120 kilometres north from Prominent 
Hill. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3. Regional location of Edward 

Creek project and Balta projects. 
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During the period the Edward Creek Base Metal Joint Venture (“ECBMJV”) between RLC, Wallaby 
Resources Pty Ltd and Eromanga Hydrocarbons NL was terminated and all interests in the ECBMJV were 
forfeited to RLC on 9 June 2009. RLC recommenced exploration of the project area in its own right 
following the termination.  
 
The termination of the joint venture is being disputed by the joint venture partners.  
 
 
Edward Creek Project  URANIUM    
 
Exploration is targeting unconformity-related and roll-front styles of uranium mineralisation in sediments 
located to the west of the uplifted radioactive rocks of the Peake and Denison Ranges. Sandstone-type 
deposits within sedimentary rocks of the Boorthanna Trough were targeted. Possible reduction/oxidation 
(“redox”) boundaries had been interpreted during the prior period from electromagnetic (EM) survey data.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 4. Edward Creek project and Balta project locations. 
 
Drilling was commenced to the south of the area (on the Balta project) in late June but did not commence 
on the Edward Creek project until early July 2009 when two vertical mud holes (178 metres) were 
completed. The holes intersected weakly elevated uranium associated with a dipping electrically 
conductive layer.   
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Edward Creek project  COPPER-GOLD-URANIUM (IOCG targets) 
 
Drilling at the Santorini gravity anomaly (IOCG-U target), originally scheduled for August/September 2007, 
was postponed because the ECBMJV partners had not committed to fund the programme.  The Santorini 
gravity anomaly has been interpreted from ground gravity data. The anomaly measures about 7 square 
kilometres in the horizontal plane within which two components, Santorini 1 and Santorini 2, have been 
interpreted. Modelling of the gravity data at Santorini 1 indicates that a rock mass measuring about 2,000 
metres long and 500 metres wide with density of 3.2 g/cc could be present at a depth of 600 metres below 
surface.  Preparations for drilling a deep (850 metre) diamond hole to investigate the Santorini 1 target 
were completed in the prior report period. The drilling will investigate the potential of the anomaly to be 
caused by rocks associated with IOCG mineralisation of the Olympic Dam type.  
 
Although the termination of the ECBMJV on 9 June enables exploration by RLC to recommence at Edward 
Creek, it is not commercially practical to undertake substantial drilling until the dispute raised by the 
previous joint venture participants has been determined. RLC considers that the dispute is baseless, but 
has agreed to follow a dispute resolution procedure provided for in the original joint venture agreement. 
Following resolution of the dispute, RLC intends drilling the Santorini target either in its own right or in joint 
venture with a third party. 

 
 
Balta Project   - URANIUM  South Australia                     RLC 100% 
 
The Project consists of one Exploration Licence (EL 3050) covering an area of 114 square kilometres 
located 25 kilometres south of the Edward Creek project. Exploration is targeting sandstone-type uranium 
deposits associated with unconformities and roll-fronts where uranium is deposited across a redox 
gradient. Exploration is being focussed in sediments located to the west of the uplifted radioactive rocks of 
the Peake and Denison Ranges. 
 
Shallow drilling commenced in late June and extended into July 2009. Four vertical mud holes (337 
metres) were completed. The holes intersected weakly elevated uranium in sandstone overlying an 
unconformity.    
 
 
 
Gold  Exploration 
 
Tanami Project     Northern Territory       RLC 100% 
See description under uranium heading. 
 
Chiltern Project    Victoria      Project surrendered 
 
The Chiltern Project covered approximately 230 square kilometres of the Chiltern Goldfield located in 
northern Victoria. The goldfield has produced 45 tonnes (1.4 M oz) of gold from alluvial deep lead systems 
(buried river beds). 
 
Previous work at Chiltern, since commencement in 1989, was focussed on identifying the source for the 
gold mined from the deep leads. However, as reported for the prior period, drilling at geophysical targets 
thought to hold potential to be associated with primary gold mineralisation was unsuccessful in linking 
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these targets to gold mineralisation.  
 
Investigations into the potential for mining remnant placer gold from the deep leads previously mined in the 
late 1800s and early 1900s were undertaken during the report period. However, a review of the project 
resulted in a decision to cease further exploration at Chiltern and the project tenements were surrendered 
in January 2009.   
 
Flora and fauna surveys were conducted during October 2008. These surveys followed on from earlier 
surveys undertaken to assess flora and fauna at the drill sites and access routes prior to commencement 
of the drill program which was completed in April 2008. Copies of the survey reports were submitted to 
Parks Victoria and to the Department of Primary Industries as part of the Company’s monitoring and 
auditing of the effects of its work within the Chiltern Mt Pilot National Park.  The flora and fauna surveys 
found that the works were likely to have had a localised but insignificant impact on flora and fauna species, 
including species of regional conservation significance.  
 
All rehabilitation bonds associated with the Chiltern project were returned in full subsequent to the end of 
the report period.   
 
 
Victor Gold Prospect   -    Jericho Project    Victoria                 Project surrendered 
 
A  review of the Victor prospect resulted in a decision to cease further exploration at the prospect and the 
project tenement was surrendered in January 2009.   
 
Rehabilitation of all areas affected by RLC’s drilling and other activities was completed in February. The project 
area lies within the Thompson Dam catchment area, one of Melbourne’s main water supplies, making all work 
subject to stringent environmental monitoring by the Department of Primary Industries Natural Resources and 
Environment in consultation with Melbourne Water.The rehabilitation bond held in connection with the tenement 
was returned in full following review and assessment of the completed works by the Department of Primary 
Industries.  

 
 
 
Concluding remarks 
 
In response to the hiatus in global financial conditions the board of RLC resolved in March to reduce 
discretionary exploration expenditure where practical and to focus expenditure on the Bullamine iron 
mineralisation project. The board’s view then was that the availability of future capital to fund continued 
exploration and development of the Company’s projects, even if results were encouraging, was uncertain. It was 
the board’s view that whilst development finance might be available for the Bullamine project from smelters 
seeking high quality iron feed stock for their smelters, finance for other activities may not be available.     

  
The board also considered that the cessation of field activity, particularly drilling, by a large number of explorers 
towards the end of calendar 2008 indicated the possibility that the Australian exploration industry was entering a 
phase of significant contraction. Such periods of contraction can present opportunities for project development 
as companies abandon exploration portfolios thus freeing up ground for new tenement applications or are 
unable to fund development of more advanced projects which are subsequently sold or abandoned.  
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Recognising the value of retained cash, directors and management elected to take a 50% reduction in fees and 
salary from April so that RLC would be in a position to take advantage of opportunities which may arise out of 
the downturn and to be ready when the market for exploration improves. 

 

Our objectives for the last financial year included advancing the Bullamine iron project to achieve production of 
iron concentrates. The drilling did not provide sufficient information to support consideration of any production 
options but it did demonstrate that the magnetite mineralisation present at one of our targets can produce a high 
quality iron concentrate. More work is required to develop the project to a stage where a smelter could  be 
attracted to assist in funding continued development costs.   

 

It had been expected that diamond drilling would be completed during the period by the ECBMJV at Santorini, 
our IOCG target in South Australia. However, despite the removal of all physical impediments to the 
programme, the ECBMJV did not undertake any exploration during the period. The joint venture has now been 
terminated, but the termination is being disputed. The dispute will be resolved by an independent nominee in 
accordance with the terms of the ECBMJV agreement.  RLC will proceed with the planned drilling at Santorini, 
either in its own right or in joint venture, once the dispute is resolved.     

 

There were two management changes during report period. Dermot Coleman resigned as Company Secretary 
on 31 March to assist the Company reduce its overhead costs. Dermot joined RLC in 2002 and assisted the 
Company through its listing on the ASX in 2007.  Phillip Lewis resigned as a director on 25 May to take up an 
executive position with Citigroup. The remaining directors express their thanks for the services that each of 
Phillip and Dermot provided the Company during their years of service.   

 

At the end of the report period RLC had over $2M cash, an iron project at which continued exploration at 
relatively low cost , may generate results sufficient to attract a partner to develop a small scale mining operation 
and  uranium projects in South Australia and the Northern Territory. RLC is actively assessing expansions to 
each of its existing projects, new project development opportunities on vacant ground and project acquisitions.     

 
Geof Fethers 
Managing Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Geof Fethers 
and Hugh Rutter, who are members of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM) and the 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists (AIG) respectively. Geof Fethers and Hugh Rutter are directors of the 
Company and each has sufficient  experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking to each qualify as a Competent Person as 
defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves (the JORC Code). Geof Fethers and Hugh Rutter consent to the inclusion in the report of the 
matters based on their information in the form and context in which it appears.  
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Tenements owned directly by the Group and tenements in which the Group has an interest (at  4 September 
2009) and surrendered during the year. 

 
Tenement Area 

 (km2) 
Status Minimum Annual 

Expenditure 
Commitment 

$ 

Group 
Interest 

(direct or indirect) 
(10 August 2009 

Western Australian  Tenements   
E70/2719 Bulla JV 
Bullamine project 

134 Current 46,000 100% (iron)1

E70/2720 Bulla JV 
Bullamine project 

149 Current 51,000 100% (iron)1

E70/2846 
Bullamine project 

47 Current 20,000 100% 

ELA 70/3462 
Bullamine project 

184 Application 63,0004 100% 

Northern Territory Tenements 
ELA 24885 
Tanami (Pedestal Hill) 

272 Application 17,7504 100% 

South Australian Tenements 
EL 3250  
Edward Creek project

440 Current 150,000 100% 2&3 

EL 3505 
Edward Creek project

114 Current  140,000 100%3 

EL 3886 
Edward Creek project

244 Current 55,000 100% 2&3 

 
Notes to the tenement schedule. 
1. E70/2719 and E70/2720 are registered in the name of Washington Resources Limited (Washington) and 

are subject to a joint venture agreement, the Bulla JV, which provides RLC with 100% interest in iron 
resources). 

2. EL 3250 and EL 3886 were subject to a joint venture agreement, the Edward Creek Base Metals Joint 
Venture (“ECBMJV”) which was terminated and all interests in the ECBMJV were forfeited to RLC on 9 
June 2009. The termination of the joint venture is being disputed by the other parties. Prior to the 
termination of the joint venture RLC held a 62% interest in the tenements comprised of a 20% free carried 
interest and a 42% interest the maintenance of which was subject to contributions to joint venture 
expenditure. 

3. EL 3250, EL 3505 and EL 3886 are subject to a joint venture agreement, the Diamond Farm Out 
Agreement, which transfers all RLC’s interest in diamonds in these tenements to DiamondCo Limited. 

4. Minimum expenditure requirements for these tenement applications will be set if the tenements are 
granted and at the time of grant of the tenement.  The amounts shown are anticipated amounts based on 
guidelines provided by the relevant state mines department. 

Tenement expenditure is dependent upon exploration results and available cash resources.  Expenditure 
commitments are also affected, and may be reduced, where access to areas has been restricted by the 
existence of Native Title claims.  At the date of this report claims for Native Title in respect of areas of all RLC’s 
granted tenements except  E70/2719, E70/2720  and E70/2846 have been made under the Native Title Act. 
The area covered by EL 24885 (an application)  is on Aboriginal Freehold land and there is no guarantee that 
the owners will give their consent and thereby allow the Company’s planned programme to proceed although a 
draft access agreement, prepared by the Central Lands Council on behalf of the owners, has been presented to 
RLC.    
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Exploration Licence 3505 includes land that is within the Woomera Prohibited Area. All exploration and mining 
activities within the Woomera Prohibited Area are subject to an agreement with the Commonwealth of Australia 
and there is no guarantee that the Commonwealth will agree to requested access nor to mining within the 
prohibited area.  

 

The Statutory expenditure requirement is subject to negotiation with the relevant state department, and 
expenditure commitments may be varied between tenements, or reduced subject to reduction of exploration 
area and/or relinquishment of non-prospective tenements. 

 

Tenements surrendered during the year were: 

 

Tenement Area 
 (km2) 

Status 

Western Australian  Tenements   
E 70/3152 
Bullamine project 

99 Surrendered 
 25/02/2009 

E 70/3153 
Bullamine project 

56 Surrendered 
 25/02/2009 

E 80/3706 
Tanami (Lewis Range) 

225 Surrendered1 
 

E 80/3707 
Tanami (Lewis Range) 

225 Surrendered1 
 

E 80/3708 
Tanami (Lewis Range) 

225 Surrendered1 
 

ELA 80/3939  
Tanami (Lewis Range) 

84 Surrendered1 
 

E80/3860 
Tanami (Bloodwood)  

641 Surrendered 
2/07/2009 

Victorian Tenements   
EL 3208 
Jericho Project  

20 Surrendered 
28/01/2009 

EL 3032 
Chiltern project 

99 Surrendered 
28/01/2009 

EL 3281 
Chiltern project 

10 Surrendered 
28/01/2009

EL 3376 
Chiltern project 

139 Surrendered 
28/01/2009 

 
Notes to the tenement schedule. 
1. E80/3706, E80/3707, E80/3708 and ELA 80/3939 were subject to a joint venture agreement, U308 Joint 

Venture Agreement, which provided RLC with 90% interest in mineral resources within the tenements. 
RLC withdrew from the U308 Joint Venture Agreement on 4 March 2009 and all interest in the tenements 
was forfeited. 
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In August 2007, the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council (Council) published 
revised Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Recommendations).  The Listing Rules of 
ASX require Australian-listed companies to report on the extent to which they have complied with the 
Recommendations during the reporting period.  Where a company has not followed all of the Recommendations, 
it must identify the Recommendations that have not been followed and give reasons for not adhering to them.  If 
a recommendation has been followed for only part of the period, the company must state the period during 
which it has been followed. 
 
This Statement outlines the main corporate governance practices of the Company.   
 
As recognised by the Council, corporate governance is “the framework of rules, relationships, systems and 
processes within and by which authority is exercised and controlled in corporations.” It encompasses the 
mechanisms by which companies, and those in control, are held to account. Corporate governance influences 
how the objectives of the company are set and achieved, how risk is monitored and assessed and how 
performance is optimised.  There is no single model of good corporate governance. Corporate governance 
practices will evolve in the light of the changing circumstances of a company and must be tailored to meet those 
circumstances. 
 
ROLE OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT 
 
The board is responsible to shareholders for the overall corporate governance of the Company.  This 
responsibility includes: 
 
- determining and periodically reviewing the Company’s strategic direction and operational policies; 
 
- establishing goals for management and tracking the roll-out and achievements of these goals; 
 
- reviewing and approving the Company’s Business Plan and complementary annual/revised budgets 

prepared by management; 
 
- approving all significant business transactions including any acquisitions, divestments, resource 

development and significant capital expenditure;  
 
- approving capital raisings in any form; 
 
- monitoring business risk exposures and risk management systems; 
 
- considering and approving financial and other obligatory reporting, including continuous disclosure 

reporting; 
 
- timely reporting to shareholders and other stakeholders. 
 
A strategic balance is maintained between the responsibilities of the Chairman (in his non-executive capacity), 
the Managing Director and the other Executive Director. 
 
As Non-Executive Chairman, the specific executive responsibilities of Mr J M Hamer are: 

- ensuring the efficient organisation and conduct of the Board’s function, 

- oversee the Company’s strategy in relation to exploration, 

- evaluate, in conjunction with the Managing Director, opportunities that may arise in the minerals industry 
from time to time,  
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- consider exploration and development orientated capital expenditure and recommend appropriate courses of 
action;  and 

- overseeing that membership of the Board is skilled and appropriate for the Company’s needs. 
 
The Managing Director, (being Mr G Fethers during the whole financial period), is accountable to the board for 
the management of the Company within the policy and authority levels prescribed by the board from time to 
time.  He is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company’s principal business operations and 
elsewhere and has the authority to approve non-planned capital expenditure, business transactions and 
personnel appointments within predetermined limits set by the board. 
 
The Managing Director’s specific responsibilities include: 
 
- preparing the Company’s strategic and quarterly operating plan and, following its adoption by the board, 

ensuring that business development is in accordance with that plan, 
 
- evaluating mining projects and formulating strategies to acquire, farm-in or obtain interests in suitable 

projects and divest non essential projects in which the Company has an interest, 
 
- engaging appropriately qualified contractors to undertake exploration programmes approved by the board.  
 
- interfacing with analysts, brokers, investors and the Company’s appointed advisers regarding the 

Company’s performance, a role shared with the Non-Executive Chairman, and 
 
- responding to written or telephonic shareholder enquiries. 
 
-     maintain overall management  of the Company’s  reporting, statutory accounting, auditing, treasury, taxation 

and insurance covers with his specific responsibilities including: 
 preparing program and other expenditure budgets for the approval of the board and monitoring the 

financial performance of the Company against approved budgets, 
 ensuring that appropriate financial reports are provided to the board at each of its meetings and, on a 

quarterly, biannual and annual basis, to the Board and, in conjunction with the Company Secretary, 
also to the ASX, and 

 monitoring the Company’s risk management framework to ensure that established policies, guidelines, 
procedures and controls are implemented. 

 
In the capacity of Company Secretary, Mr D Coleman was, and Mr G Fethers is now, responsible for ensuring 
that the board also receives relevant information and reports (notably on auditing, taxation and legal matters) at 
its regular meetings and otherwise as appropriate.  The Company Secretary is responsible for the lodgement of 
statutory financial statements and ASX/ASIC reporting, including any correspondence in relation to ASX 
reporting and of a non-routine nature from ASIC. 
 
 
COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 
The Company had, during the period between the end of the last financial period and May 2009, , three non-
executive directors (Messrs Hamer, Lewis and Griffin), considered by the board to be independent in terms of 
the Council’s definition of independent director, and two executive directors including the Managing Director.  Mr 
Lewis retired from office in May 2009 and has not been replaced, leaving two independent non-executive 
directors.  The names, qualifications and periods of office of the current directors of the Company as at the date 
of this statement are set out in the Directors Report on page 17. 
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During the period between the end of the last financial period and May 2009, the board comprised a majority of 
independent directors and its composition complied with Recommendation 2.1 of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations.  The board has not replaced (and does not currently intend to 
replace) Mr Lewis following his retirement from office in May 2009 as a result of a desire to reduce overhead 
expenditure. Accordingly, the board no longer comprises a majority of independent directors and the 
composition of the board no longer complies with Recommendation 2.1. However, the independent Chairman 
has a casting vote and the board has adopted and implemented a number of other measures to ensure that 
independent judgement is achieved and maintained in respect of its decision-making processes, which include 
the following: 
- directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, subject to the 

prior approval of the non-executive Chairman; and 
- directors having a conflict of interest in relation to a particular item of business must absent themselves from 

the board meeting before commencement of discussion and the taking of a vote on the matter. 
 
The board does not intend to establish an audit committee, and consequently does not comply with 
Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 or 4.4 of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. 
Instead the board will discharge its responsibilities in respect of audit. The Company does not have a nomination 
committee and consequently does not comply with recommendations 2.4 and 2.6 of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Guidelines.  The board is of a size, composition and physical location which is conducive to making 
the relevant decisions itself efficiently and expeditiously. 
 
The board is of the view that it is adequately structured to meet the needs and governance of the Company 
having equal numbers of non-executive and executive directors, an independent non-executive Chairman with a 
casting vote and with each current director bringing a range of different and complementary skills and 
experience to the Company as indicated in the Directors’ Report on page 17.   
 
ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION MAKING 
It continues to be the policy of the Company for directors, officers and employees to observe high standards of 
conduct and ethical behaviour in all of the Company’s activities.  This includes dealings with suppliers, business 
partners, regulatory authorities and the general communities in which it operates.  Officers and employees of the 
Company are expected to: 
- comply with the law, 
- act honestly and with integrity and objectivity, 
- not place themselves in situations which result in divided loyalties, 
- use the Company’s assets responsibly and in the interests of the Company and, 
- be responsible and accountable for their actions.  
 
It is Company policy that directors must consult the Chairman prior to any dealing in RLC shares..  The board 
recognises that it is the individual responsibility of each director and employee in possession of market sensitive 
information to ensure that he/she complies with the spirit and the letter of insider trading laws.  Notification to the 
Chairman and, through him, the board and market, as provided for under the Listing Rules of ASX, does not 
constitute board endorsement of any such transaction.  It is a policy of the board that Directors and Management  
not trade securities in the Company whilst in possession of price sensitive information, not deal in RLC securities  
within  12 months of initial acquisition and not deal in RLC securities at times outside periods of 3 weeks 
commencing 24 hours after the announcement of half yearly or annual results, the publication of an ASX 
quarterly report, any announcements to ASX which may or are likely to affect the value of RLC’s assets in a 
material way or the issue of a qualifying prospectus. 
 
The Trading Policy is available on the Company’s website (www.reedylagoon.com.au) and will be provided to 
any shareholder on request to the Company Secretary. 
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INTEGRITY OF FINANCIAL REPORTING 
The Company’s Managing Director declares in writing to the board (in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 that, in his opinion, the consolidated financial statements of RLC and its controlled 
entities for each half and full financial year present a true and fair view of the group’s financial position and 
performance and are in accordance with prevailing accounting standards. 
The objectives of the board are to: 
- ensure the integrity of external financial reporting, 
- ensure that controls are established, maintained and adhered to in order to safeguard the Company’s 

financial and physical resources, 
- ensure that systems or procedures are in place and operational so that the Company complies with relevant 

statutory and regulatory requirements, 
- assess financial risks arising from the Company’s operations, and consider the adequacy of measures 

taken to moderate those risks, and 
- liaise with external auditors periodically. 
 
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE TO ASX 
The board is responsible for monitoring compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and approves 
each proposed announcement to ASX before it is released.  The Company Secretary is responsible, under the 
ASX Listing Rules, for all communications with ASX.  The Non-Executive Chairman, Managing Director and 
Company Secretary periodically discuss issues relating to the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations.  
The Company’s Disclosure and Communications Policy is available on the Company’s website 
(www.reedylagoon.com.au) and will be provided to any shareholder on request to the Company Secretary. 
 
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS 
It is the policy of the Company to ensure that shareholders have equal and timely access to material information 
concerning the Company. 
All documents which are released publicly are made available on the Company’s website 
(www.reedylagoon.com.au).  The website provides information on the Company’s mineral projects as well as 
ASX releases and audited financial statements.   
The board encourages full participation of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of 
accountability and identification with the Group’s strategy and goals.   
RLC’s external auditor is required by law to attend the AGM to answer questions relevant to, inter alia, the 
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, and does attend. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
The board is responsible for the oversight of the Group’s risk management and control framework. The 
Company has implemented a policy framework designed to ensure that the Group’s risks are identified and that 
controls are adequate, in place and functioning effectively.  Responsibility for aspects of control and risk 
management is delegated to the pertinent individual within the Group with the Managing Director having ultimate 
responsibility to the board for the risk management and control framework. 
Areas of significant business risk are highlighted to the board by the Managing Director. 
Arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor risk management include  reporting to each board meeting in 
respect of operations and the financial position of the Group. 
The Company’s Managing Director has provided reports in writing to the board that: 
- the declaration given in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound 

system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by 
the board; and 

- the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control framework is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects. 
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PERFORMANCE 
The board is responsible for the appointment of the Managing Director and Exploration Director and conducts an 
ongoing review of their performance.  The Chairman is responsible for collating the views of the other directors 
for the purposes of reviewing the performance of the board. 
 
A formal performance evaluation of the board and its members has not taken place since the end of the last 
financial period. 
 
REMUNERATION 
Details of the remuneration of the directors are disclosed in the Remuneration Report set out on pages 19 to 22.  
 
The Company does not have a policy prohibiting the entering into transactions in associated products which limit 
the economic risk of participating in uninvested entitlements under relevant equity based remuneration schemes.  
This is because the only equity based remuneration scheme offered to directors takes the form of options over 
unissued shares with an exercise price in excess of the current market price. 
 
INTERESTS OF STAKEHOLDERS 
The board has responsibility for protecting, guiding and monitoring the business affairs of the Company in the 
interests and for the benefit of stakeholders. 
 
To fulfil this role, the board is responsible for the strategic direction of the business, establishing goals for 
management and monitoring the achievement of goals.  Responsibility for day-to-day activities of the entity is 
delegated to the Managing Director.  The Company’s board and management jointly strive to achieve best 
practice in meeting their responsibilities for the business and affairs of the Company. 
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The Directors present their report, together with the financial report of Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited 
and its wholly owned subsidiary for the year ended 30 June 2009 and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 
A. DIRECTOR  PROFILES 
 
The Names and particulars of Directors of the Company at any time during or since the financial year and 
are: 
 
Director Particulars 
Jonathan M. 
Hamer  BA, 
LLB. 

Chairman – Non Executive:  

Aged 54,  Appointed 9 May 2007  

A partner of Mallesons Stephen Jaques practising in the areas of corporate and finance law.  
Jonathan has been advising RLC since 1988 on a range of legal and commercial issues, 
including in its various joint venture agreements and capital raisings.   

 
Geof H. Fethers  
B.Sc., M 
AusIMM 

Managing Director:  

Aged 52,  Founding Director  

Manages the operations of RLC.  He is a geologist with over 25 years exploration 
experience.  He was employed by De Beers Australia Exploration Limited (formerly 
Stockdale Prospecting Limited) from 1980 to 1985.  He founded RLC in 1986.  He co-
founded, with Hugh Rutter, Osprey in 1989 and Flagstaff GeoConsultants Pty Ltd in 
1996.  He holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons.) (Geology) degree from The University of 
Melbourne and is a Member of the Geological Society of Australia and the Australian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (CPGeo). 

 
Hugh Rutter  
B.Sc., M.Sc., 
D.I.C., F.A.I.G. 

Exploration Director   

Aged 67,  Appointed 24 August 2000.   

A geophysicist and mineral explorer with more than 40 years experience in the mining 
industry.  He has provided geophysical services to a wide range of companies since 
establishing himself as a Consulting Geophysicist in 1981.  Hugh jointly manages the 
exploration activities of RLC and has contributed to RLC’s exploration activities since 
1988 as a consultant.  Prior to his consulting work, he spent 10 years with Western 
Mining Corporation Limited (“WMC”) before joining The Broken Hill Proprietary Company 
Ltd (“BHP”) as Chief Geophysicist in 1976.  At WMC, his activities included initial 
participation in and significant contribution to the discovery of the Olympic Dam Mine, 
participation in the development of the Wilga Deposit and redevelopment of the Stawell 
Gold Mine.  He helped establish BHP’s geophysical exploration and research group and 
contributed as a member of the Exploration Management Committee.   He holds a 
Bachelor of Science (Geology) degree from Durham University, a Master of Science 
(Geophysics) degree from University of London and a Diploma from Imperial College, 
London.  He is a past President and Honorary member of the Australian Society of 
Exploration Geophysicists and member of the Australian Institute of Geoscience 



 REEDY LAGOON CORPORATION LIMITED 
 ACN 006 639 514 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 

18 

Adrian C. Griffin  
B.Sc. M AusIMM 
 

    Non-Executive Director: 
Aged 56,  Appointed 9 May 2007 

Has extensive mining and exploration experience including mine planning, grade control and 
exploration methods in iron ore gained whilst with BHP and 20 years’ experience managing 
public companies.  Adrian is a geologist and the Chairman  of Empire Resources Limited and 
non-executive director  of Hodges Resources Limited, and Northern Uranium Limited which 
has extensive uranium projects to the north of RLC’s Pedestal Hill project. In the 1980s, 
Adrian was operations manager for a number of public companies involved in the mining and 
production of gold and base metals throughout Australia and southeast Asia. In 1988, he 
managed the commissioning of underground production at the Bellevue gold mine in Western 
Australia. He began consulting to the mining industry in 1990 and has held board positions 
with a number of public companies since then. His management experience is broad, 
encompassing: exploration, financing, development, commissioning and the production of a 
wide range of mineral commodities.  Adrian is a member of the Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy and the Geological Society of Australia. 

 

Philip H. Lewis  
B Ec, LLB 
 

Resigned 25 May 2009 

Position previously held :         Non executive Director:  from 9 May 2007  
Aged 51.   

Has over eighteen years experience in investment banking, including having worked 
from 1990 to 2005 with a major global investment bank.  Over that time Philip advised a 
number of Australia’s leading corporates on a range of merger and acquisition and 
capital markets activities including in the mining sector.   
Philip resigned on 25 May 2009 to take up an executive role with Citigroup. 

Directorships of other listed companies  
Directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the 
financial year are as follows: 
 

Name Company  Period of directorship 
 
A C Griffin 

 
Dwyka Resources Limited 
Empire Resources Limited 
Northern Uranium Limited 
Hodges Resources Limited 
Washington Resources Limited 

 
1/12/2005 to 30/10/2007 

since 3/02/2004 
since 12/06/2006 

17/08/2005 to 1/12/2008 
7/09/2004 to 1/12/2008 

The Names and particulars of the Secretary of the Company at any time during or since the financial year 
and  are: 
 
Company 
Secretary 

Particulars 

Geof H Fethers 

 

Dermot Coleman  
B.A., LLB. 

Aged 52,  appointed 1 April 2009.  

 

 

Resigned 31 March 2009 

Qualified lawyer employed in the mineral exploration industry since 1977.  Director and company 
secretary of De Beers for more than 15 years, until mid-2001 and has worked since then as a 
consultant. Much of his work involved negotiating joint venture arrangements and establishing 
overseas exploration ventures.  Reflecting the importance of access to land for exploration, 
Dermot also has 20 years experience with Native Title and Aboriginal land rights issues and was 
for 4 years, a councillor of the Perth based Association of Mining and Exploration Companies.  
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This remuneration report outlines the Director and Executive remuneration arrangements of the Company in 
accordance with the Corporations act 2001 and its Regulations.  It also provides the remuneration 
disclosures required by paragraphs AUS25.4 and AUS 25.7.2 of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures which 
have been transferred to the Remuneration Report in accordance with the Corporations Regulation  2M 6.04 
 
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the Directors (both Executive and Non 
Executive) and Executives of the Company.   
 
This report is audited as the entity has transferred the disclosures from the financial statements. 
 
For the purposes of this report the term ‘Senior executive ‘ encompasses the Managing Director, Executive 
Directors and Secretary of the Company and its subsidiary.  
 
Board Policy for determining remuneration of Directors and Executives  
 
Currently, the Company does not have a separate remuneration committee. Because of the size of the board 
and the operations of the Company, the Directors are of the view that there is no need for a separate 
remuneration committee.  

The Board as a whole reviews the remuneration packages and policies applicable to the Chairman, Senior 
Executives and Non-Executive Directors on an annual basis. Remuneration levels are set to attract or retain, 
as appropriate, qualified and experienced Directors and Senior Executives. From time to time and as 
required, the Board will seek independent professional advice on the appropriateness of remuneration 
packages.  

The current nature and amount of remuneration payable to Chairman, Senior Executives and Non-Executive 
Directors is not dependent upon the satisfaction of a performance condition.  Instead part of the 
remuneration takes the form of options which will have value if the Company’s share price increases.  
 
Directors’ Interests 
 
The relevant interest of each Director in the shares and options issued by the Company as notified by the 
Directors at the date of the report is: 
Table DR1 – 2009 Directors interests in securities 

Director Shares held by director Shares held on behalf of 
director or by director 

controlled entities 

Options over unissued 
shares 

G.H. Fethers 5,010 6,747,780 3,487,950 
H. Rutter 93,890 625,900 1,637,950 
J Hamer 18,780 3,600,000 
A Griffin 100,000 - 200,000 
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Executives for the year ended 30 June 2009 
 

The Directors and the five identified key management executives received the following amounts as 
compensation for their services as Directors and executives of the Company during the year:  
 

Table DR2 – 2009 Director & Executive remuneration 

 Short-term employee benefits 

Post-  
employment 

benefits 
Other 

long-term 
employee 
benefits 

Share-
based 

payment 

Total 

% of 
remuneration 
consisting of 

options & 
rights  

Salary 

& fees  
Non-

monetary Other 
Super-

annuation 
Options 
& rights 

2008 $  $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Non-executive 
Directors         
J M  Hamer 32,072  - - 2,928 -  35,000 0 % 

P Lewis 45,278  - - 1,376 -  46,454 0 % 

A Griffin 17,500  - - - -  17,500 0 % 

Executive Directors         

G Fethers 115,500  - - 10,395 -  125,895 0 % 

H Rutter 84,000  - - - -  84,000 0 % 

Secretary          

D Coleman 6,192  - - 558 -  6,750 0 % 

 

Securities issued to Directors and Executives 

The following table summarises the value of securities issued/granted, exercised or lapsed during the annual 
reporting period to the identified Directors and Executives:  
 

Table DR3 - 2009 Options Grants, Exercise and Lapse  

 Value of options 
granted 

at the grant date (i) 

Value of options 
exercised 

at the exercise date 

Value of options 
lapsed  

at the date of lapse Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

J Hamer - - - - 
P Lewis - - - - 
A  Griffin - - - -
G Fethers - - (ii) -
H Rutter - - (ii) -
D Coleman - - - -
     

 

(i) Details of option grants are set out in table DR4 below.  Options granted vested with the recipient on issue. The 

value of options granted during the period is recognised in compensation over the vesting period of the grant, in 

accordance with Australian accounting standards. 

(ii) Details of options lapsed during the year are set out in table DR5 below. The options were deemed to have no 

value at the date of grant. 
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The options granted during the year and fair value attributed to the options grant is set out in table 3 below :- 
 

Table DR4 – 2009 Options Grant, Vesting and Fair Value 
Issued to Exercise 

Price 
Expiry Date Number of 

Options granted 
(i) 

Number of 
Options Vested 
during the year 

Fair Value of 
Options 

granted and 
vested 

Directors      
G Fethers $0.20 31-Dec-11 500,000 500,000 - 
H Rutter $0.20 31-Dec-11 500,000 500,000 - 
A Griffin $0.20 31-Dec-11 100,000 100,000 - 
J Hamer $0.20 31-Dec -11 300,000 300,000 - 
P Lewis $0.20 31-Dec -11 100,000 100,000 - 
Secretary     - 
D Coleman (Sec) $0.20 31-Dec-11 100,000 100,000 - 
 
Aggregate Value of Securities issued 

   
-  

(i)  each option converts to one ordinary share on exercise 
The securities issued to Directors are options the exercise price of which was set at a premium to the value 
of the underlying share at the time of issue.  Accordingly, the issue of the option is not dependent on the 
satisfaction of a performance hurdle but the amount, if any, ultimately realised, is dependent upon the value 
of the underlying share at the time of exercise of the option.  
 
The valuation of the options granted and vested during the year employed a Hull-White enhanced trinomial 
lattice options pricing model using the following key data inputs. 

Series 20 cents : 31-Dec-11 

Deemed date of grant 3 November 2008 

Underlying Share Price 3.0 cents 

Volatility Range – 90% to 130% 

Risk Free Rate 5.75% 

Dividend Rate Nil 

Employee exit rate 0 
 
Because of the significant premium of the exercise price to the underlying share price at the date of 
grant, the options were determined not to be of any value. 
 
Table DR5 – 2009 Director held options lapsed 
Expiry Date Exercise Price  Number of Shares 
31 December 2008 $0.50  625,900 

 
The aggregate of options over unissued ordinary shares of the Company held by directors and executives 
holding office at the date of this report is follows; 
 

Table DR6 – 2009 Options on Issue- Held by Directors and Senior Executives 
Expiry Date Exercise Price  Number of Shares 
31 December 2009 $0.50  625,900 
31 December 2010 $0.20  1,400,000 
31 December 2011 $0.20  1,400,000 
31 March 2012 $0.50  2,500,000 
30 April 2012 $0.30  3,000,000 
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Details of Employment and Service Contracts 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors have been engaged under service contracts the details of which 
are summarised below. 
 
 Mr G Fethers is employed as the Company’s Executive Managing Director under a contract of 

employment which commenced on 1 May 2007.  The contract does not have any fixed term and may 
be terminated by the Company or Mr Fethers on reasonable notice.  No payments or retirement 
benefits are payable on termination. On 1 April 2009 Mr Fethers agreed to a 50% reduction in his 
salary as a temporary measure to assist the Company conserve its cash reserves. 
–  

 In respect of the payments to Mr H Rutter detailed in table 1, Geophysical Exploration Consultants Pty 
Ltd (“Geophysical”), a company associated with Mr. Rutter, and RLC have entered a Consultancy 
Agreement.  Under the Consultancy Agreement Geophysical provides geological, geophysical and 
management services to RLC for an annual fee of $96,000 to be paid in monthly instalments of 
$8,000.  The agreement commenced on 1 May 2007 with a term of 12 months, which may be 
renewed on an annual basis.  7 days notice is required to be given by the non-defaulting party if 
seeking to terminate the agreement due to default by the other party. Where a party given notice does 
not remedy the default termination occurs upon the expiry of the notice given by the other party.  The 
term of the agreement automatically renews for successive Contract Years unless written notice of 
termination is given by either party at least 6 months before the end of the then current Contract Year. 
There are no termination payments provided under the agreement. On 1 April 2009 Mr Rutter agreed 
to a 50% reduction in the fees payable to Geophysical as a temporary measure to assist the 
Company conserve its cash reserves. 
 

 In respect of the payments to Mr P Lewis detailed in table 1, Lewcorp Pty. Ltd (“Lewcorp”), of which 
P. H. Lewis is a director and shareholder, and RLC had entered a Consultancy Agreement which 
commenced on 1 May 2007 Under the Consultancy Agreement Lewcorp provided corporate advisory 
and other services as required from time to time by the Company. The agreement provided for a fixed 
annual retainer of $40,000.  By mutual agreement the Consultancy Agreement  was not renewed for 
the 3rd year and terminated on 30 April 2009. On 25 May 2009 Mr Lewis resigned as a director to take 
up a full time executive position with Citigroup. 

 
Details of Related Party Contracts 
 
Entities related to Directors have also entered into service agreements with the Company, the details of 
which a summarised below. 
 
 With Cropten Pty Ltd, of which Messrs. Fethers and Rutter are shareholders and directors, for the 

provision of office space, equipment and secretarial services to the Company at normal commercial 
rates.  The agreement may be terminated without notice and no termination payments are applicable. 
Payments under this agreement during the financial year totalled $35,710. 

 
 With Flagstaff GeoConsultants Pty Ltd, of which Messrs. Fethers and Rutter are shareholders and 

H Rutter is a director, for the provision of geological and geophysical services not provided by G 
Fethers or H Rutter. The agreement provides for services on an as required basis at commercially 
applicable rates.  The agreement may be terminated without notice and no termination payments are 
applicable.  Payments under this agreement during the financial year totalled $30,276.  

 
 Mallesons Stephen Jaques, a firm of which Mr J M Hamer is a partner, provided professional legal 

services to the Company during the financial year in respect of agreements and other matters on an 
as required basis.  Fees were levied on normal commercial professional fee terms and during the 
financial period amounted to $4,328. 
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Principal Activity 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the course of the financial year were the exploration 
for minerals. 
  
There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Company during the year. 
 
Result of Operations 
The net loss of the Consolidated group after income tax for the year was $607,373(2008: loss $1,415,536). 
Further commentary on the operations of the Company during the year is included in the Annual Review on 
pages 2 to 9 of the Annual Report. 
 
Dividends 
No amount has been paid or declared by way of a dividend during the year and the directors do not 
recommend the payment of any dividend. 
 
State of Affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year.  
 
Environmental Regulation 
The Company's operations are subject to environmental regulations under State legislation in relation to its 
exploration activities.  
 
In addition, the Company is a member of the Minerals Council of Australia (“MCA”) and a signatory to 
"Enduring Value". The purpose of "Enduring Value" is to assist companies to contribute to the growth and 
prosperity of current and future generations. 
 
The directors are not aware of any breaches of regulations during the period covered by this report.  
 
Events Subsequent to Balance Date 
There has not arisen, in the interval between the end of the year and the date of this report, any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company to 
affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of 
the Company in future financial years 

 
Likely Developments 
At the date of this report, there are no future developments of the Company, which warrant disclosure. 
 
Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the 
Company (as named above), the Company Secretary, Mr. D Coleman, and all executive officers of the 
Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred in such capacity of director, 
secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of 
insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

 
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate 
against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
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Directors’ Meetings 
The following table sets out the numbers of meetings of the Company’s Directors held during the year 
ended 30 June 2009, and the number of meetings attended by each director. 
 
   A B 
G. H. Fethers  9 9 
H. Rutter  9 9 
J M Hamer   9 8 
P H Lewis  9 8 
A  C Griffin   9 7 
  
A-  number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year 
 
B - number of meetings attended  
 

Non Audit Services 
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor (or by another person or 
firm associated with or on behalf of the auditor) is compatible with the general standard of auditors 
independence imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor (or associated firms) for non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out on page 37 of the financial report. 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
The auditor’s independence Declaration is included on page 25 of the financial report 

 
Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in 
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or any part of those proceedings. 

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 

 
 
 

G.H. FETHERS     
DIRECTOR     
15 September 2009 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
 
 
 
 

UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001  
TO THE DIRECTORS OF REEDY LAGOON CORORATION LIMITED 
 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2009 there have 
been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 
2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
Nexia ASR 
ABN 16 847 721 257 

 
 
 
 
 

Partner 
Audit & Assurance Services 
 
Melbourne 
Dated this 15th day of September 2009 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees 



 REEDY LAGOON CORPORATION LIMITED 
 ACN 006 639 514 
 
 
DIRECTORS DECLARATION 
 

26 

 
 
The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 29 to 53, are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001 and: 

 a. comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2009 and of the performance for the 
year ended on that date of the Company and consolidated group; 
 

2. the Managing Director, acting as chief executive officer and chief finance officer, has declared that: 

 a. the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in 
accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 

 b. the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and 

 c. the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view; 
 

3. in the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

 
 
 

G. H. FETHERS 
Managing Director 

 

15 September 2009 
Melbourne 
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Report on the Financial Report 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited (the Company) 
and Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited and Controlled Entities (the consolidated entity), which comprises 
the balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and 
cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the Company 
and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2, the 
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial 
Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with 
IFRS. 
 

The directors also are responsible for preparation and presentation of the remuneration disclosures 
contained in the directors’ report in accordance with the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement and that the 
remuneration disclosures in the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures in the directors’ report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF  
REEDY LAGOON CORPORATION LIMTED 



 REEDY LAGOON CORPORATION LIMITED 
 ACN 006 639 514 
 
 
 
 

28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Independence 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to 
the directors of Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited on 15 September 2009, would be in the same terms if 
provided to the directors as at the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
 
In our opinion: 
 
a.  the financial report of Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited and Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited 

and Controlled Entities is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 
June 2009 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
 
b.  the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 2; and 
 
c.  the remuneration disclosures that are contained in pages 19 to 22 of the directors’ report comply 

with Accounting Standard AASB 124. 
 
 
 
 
 
Nexia ASR 
ABN 16 847 721 257 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GEORGE S. DAKIS 
Partner – Audit & Assurance Services 
 
Melbourne 
Dated this 15th day of September 2009 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 

 

  Consolidated Company 
  

Note
 

2009 
 

2008 
 

2009 
 

2008 

  $  $  $  $  
      
      
Other revenue from ordinary activities 4 154,247 334,775 154,247 334,775
Total revenue  154,247 334,775 154,247 334,775
   
Expenses related to ordinary activities   
   
Corporate Administration costs  (82,797) (118,912) (82,797) (118,912)
Employee and directors benefits expense  (197,664) (335,051) (197,664) (335,051)
Exploration expenditure  (400,887) (949,203) (400,887) (949,203)
Other expenses from ordinary activities  (72,244) (77,697) (72,244) (77,697)
Depreciation expense  (8,028) (4,683) (8,028) (4,683)
Exploration assets acquisition costs written off  - (264,765) - (264,765)
   
   
(Loss) before income tax  

 (607,373) (1,415,536) (607,373) (1,415,536)
   
Income tax expense 9(a) - - - -
   
 
(Loss) for the year  (607,373) (1,415,536) (607,373) (1,415,536)

   
   
Earnings per share   

   
Basic (cents per share)  (1.25) (2.96)  
Diluted (cents per share)  (0.95) (2.25)  

 

 

 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 33 to 53. 
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BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 

   

  Consolidated Company 

 
 

Note 
 

2009 
 

2008 
 

2009 
  

2008 
  $ $ $  $  
ASSETS      
Current Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 10 2,132,758 2,718,434 2,132,758 2,718,434
Trade and other receivables 11 48,154 42,615 48,154 42,615
Other current assets 12 36,582 47,718 36,582 47,718
Total Current Assets  2,217,494 2,808,767 2,217,494 2,808,767
 

13 17,984 26,012 17,984 26,012
Non Current Assets 
Property Plant & Equipment 

Total Assets  2,235,478 2,834,779 2,235,478 2,834,779
   
LIABILITIES   
Current Liabilities   
Trade and other payables 14 79,955 72,283 79,955 72,283
Total Current Liabilities  79,955 72,283 79,955 72,283
   
Non Current Liabilities  - - - -
Total Liabilities  79,955 72,283 79,955 72,283
Net Asset (Deficiency)  2,155,523 2,762,496 2,155,523 2,762,496
   
Equity   
Issued capital 15 13,606,028 13,606,028 13,606,028 13,606,028
Reserves 17 145,000 145,000 145,000 145,000
Retained earnings  (11,595,505) (10,988,532) (11,595,505) (10,988,532)

Total Equity/(deficiency)  2,155,523 2,762,496 2,155,523 2,762,496
 

 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 33 to 53. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 

 
Consolidated  

Fully paid 
ordinary 
shares

Equity-
settled 

employee 
benefits 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$ $ $ $
   
     
Balance at 1 July 2007 13,406,028 120,000 (9,572,996) 3,953,032 
     
(Loss) for the period   (1,415,536) (1,415,536) 
Total recognised income and expense    (1,415,536) (1,415,536) 
Issue of options under share option plan  25,000  25,000 
Issue of shares 200,000   200,000 
Balance at 30 June 2008 13,606,028 145,000 (10,988,532) 2,762,496 
     
 
Balance at 1 July 2008 13,606,028 145,000 (10,988,532) 2,762,496 
     
(Loss) for the period   (607,373) (607,373) 
Total recognised income and expense    (607,373) (607,373) 
Issue of options under share option plan  -   
Balance at 30 June 2009 13,606,028 145,000 (11,595,505) 2,155,523 

 
Company  

Fully paid 
ordinary 
shares

Equity-
settled 

employee 
benefits 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$ $ $ $
  
Balance at 1 July 2007 13,406,028 120,000 (9,572,996) 3,953,032 
     
(Loss) for the period   (1,415,536) (1,415,536) 
Total recognised income and expense    (1,415,536) (1,415,536) 
Issue of options under share option plan  25,000  25,000 
Issue of shares 200,000   200,000 
Balance at 30 June 2008 13,606,028 145,000 (10,988,532) 2,762,496 
     
 
Balance at 1 July 2008 13,606,028 145,000 (10,988,532) 2,762,496 
     
(Loss) for the period   (607,373) (607,373) 
Total recognised income and expense    (607,373) (607,373) 
Issue of options under share option plan  -   
Balance at 30 June 2009 13,606,028 145,000 (11,595,505) 2,155,523 

 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 33 to 53 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 
 

  

  Consolidated Company 

 Note 2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $ $ $ $ 
   
Cash flow from operating activities   
Receipts from customers  42,003 135,771 42,003 135,771
Payments to suppliers and employees  (370,871) (426,479) (370,871) (426,479)
Payments for exploration activities  (356,726) (1,053,093) (356,726) (1,053,093)
Interest received  116,542 211,346 116,542 211,346 
GST adjustments  (16,624) 79,726 (16,624) 79,726
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities 18(b) (585,676) (1,052,729) (585,676) (1,052,729)
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Payments for acquisition of exploration projects  - (64,765) - (64,765)
Investment in de-consolidated subsidiary  - - - -
Payments for property, plant and equipment  - (30,695) - (30,695)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing 
activities  - (95,460) - (95,460)
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing 
activities  - - - -
   
   
Net (decrease)/increase in cash held  (585,676) (1,148,189) (585,676) (1,148,189)
Cash at beginning of year  2,718,434 3,866,623 2,718,434 3,866,623

Cash at end of year 18(a) 2,132,758 2,718,434 2,132,758 2,718,434
     

 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 33 to 53 
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1.   GENERAL INFORMATION 
Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited (“the Company” or “RLC”) is a listed public company, incorporated in 
Australia with mineral projects in Victoria, NSW, Northern Territory, Western and South Australia. 
 
Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited’s registered office and its principal place of business is at:  
 
Suite 2, 337A Lennox Street 
Richmond, Vic, 3121 
 
2.      STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), Urgent Issues Group 
Consensus Views, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
It has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, and except where stated does not 
take into account changing money values or fair values of non-current assets. 
 
These accounting policies have been consistently applied and, except where there is a change in 
accounting policy, are consistent with those of the previous year. 
 
(a) Principles of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated accounts comprise the accounts of Reedy Lagoon Corporation Limited and its controlled 
entities. A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 24 to the financial statements. All inter-company 
balances and transactions between entities in the consolidated group, including any unrealised profits or 
losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Where controlled entities have entered or left the 
consolidated group during the year, their operating results have been included from the date control was 
obtained or until the date control ceased. Outside interests in the equity and results of the entities that are 
controlled are shown as a separate item in the consolidated financial report. 
 
(b)  Income tax 
 
The change for current income tax expenses is based on the profit for the year adjusted for the year 
adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or are substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, 
excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates to 
items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against 
equity. 
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the 
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the 
consolidated group will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and 
comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. 
 
(c) Goods and Services Tax 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In 
these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an 
item of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, 
are classified as operating cash flows. 
 
(d) Exploration, Evaluation and Development Expenditure 
 
Expenditure incurred on the acquisition of exploration properties and exploration, evaluation and 
development costs are written off as incurred where the activities in the areas of interest have not yet 
reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable 
reserves. Once it is determined that the costs can be recouped through sale or successful development 
and exploitation of the area of interest then the on-going costs are accumulated and carried forward for 
each area of interest. 
 
Amortisation is not charged on costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the development 
phase until production commences. When production commences, carried forward exploration, evaluation 
and development costs are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the 
economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which 
the decision to abandon the area is made. Each area of interest is also reviewed annually and 
accumulated costs written off to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future. 
 
Restoration costs are provided for at the time of the activities that give rise to the need for restoration. If 
this occurs prior to commencement of production, the costs are included in deferred exploration and 
development expenditure. If it occurs after commencement of production, restoration costs are provided 
for and charged to the statement of financial performance as an expense.  
 
 
 



REEDY LAGOON CORPORATION LIMITED 
ACN 006 639 514 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 

 

35 

(e) Cash assets 
 
Cash assets are carried at face value of the amounts deposited. The carrying value of cash assets 
approximates net fair value. 
 
(f) Other receivables 
 
Other receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful receivables. 
 
(g) Revenue Recognition 
 
Rendering of services 
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers or 
in accordance with contractual rights. 
Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 
 
(h) Payables  
 
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received. Trade 
accounts payable are settled as cash flows allow. 
 
(i) Investments Controlled Entities 
 
Investments in controlled entities are carried in the Company’s financial statements at the lower of cost 
and recoverable amount. 
 
(j) Comparative figures 
 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current financial year. 
 
 
3.  ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS  
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is 
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, 
the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 
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  Consolidated Company 

 Note 2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
4. VREVENUE     
 Operating income:   
 - Interest – other parties  116,542 211,346 116,542 211,346
 - Joint Venture management fees 

 
30,000 120,000 30,000 120,000

- Other 7,705 3,429 7,705 3,429
 Total revenue   154,247 334,774 154,247 334,774

 
5. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 

EXPENSE  
 Loss from ordinary activities before income tax 

expense has been arrived at after charging the 
following items:  

a. Expenses   
 Finance costs:   
 - external  - - - -
 - related entities  - - -
 Total finance costs  - - - -
 
b.  Significant  expenses   
 The following significant revenue and 

expense items are relevant in explaining 
the statement of financial performance   

  - Fund raising costs  16,624 - 16,624 -
  - Equity-settled share-based payments  - 25,000 - 25,000
  -  Write off of acquisition costs of 

exploration assets  - 264,765 - 264,765
  -Exploration expenditure  400,887 949,203 400,887 949,203
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  Consolidated Company 

 Note 2009 2008 2009 2008 
6.  AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION     
 Remuneration for the auditor of the 

Company for:   
 - auditing or reviewing the financial 

reports  15,250 8,500 15,250 8,500
 - taxation and compliance services   16,212 19,100 16,212 19,100
 - other services  720 - 720 -
   32,182 27,600 32,182 27,600
    
    

 
7.    KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

 
The directors and the five (1) identified key management executives received the following amounts as 
compensation for their services as directors and executives of the Company during the year:  

 

 Short-term employee benefits 

Post-  

employ-

ment 

benefits 
Other long-

term 

employee 

benefits 

Share-

based 

payment 

Total 

% 

consist-

ing of 

options  

Salary 

& fees  

Non-

monetary Other 

Super-

annuation 

Options  

& rights (1) 

2009 $  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-executive 
directors         
J M  Hamer 32,072  - - 2,928 -  35,000 0 % 

P Lewis 45,278  - - 1,376 -  46,654 0 % 

A Griffin 17,500  - - - -  17,500 0 % 

          
Executive Directors         
G Fethers 115,500  - - 10,395 -  125,895 0 % 

H Rutter 84,000  - - - -  84,000 0 % 

          
Secretary          
D Coleman 6,192  - - 558 -  6,750 0% 

        315,599  

 

(1) details of the valuation of share based payments are set out in Note 16.  All options fully vested on grant date. 
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8.  BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS  
 
(a) Information on business segments  
 
(i) Activities within each business segment 
For management purposes, the Group is organised into one major operating division – minerals 
exploration. This is the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. The principal 
projects in which the Group has an interest in are described in the Annual Review in pages 2 to 9 of this 
Annual Report 

 
(ii)  Segment revenues 

 External sales Inter-segment 
(i) 

Other Total 

2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000 

Mineral 
exploration 

 
30,000 

 
120,000 

  
 

  
 

 
30,000 

 
120,000 

         
Total of all segments 30,000 120,000 
Eliminations   
Unallocated 124,247 214,775 
Consolidated revenue 154,247 334,775 
 

(iii)  Segment result 
 2009 

$’000 
2008 
$’000 

   
Minerals exploration (714,996) (1,601,882) 
   

   
Unallocated  107,623 186,346 

Loss before tax  (607,373) (1,415,536) 
Income tax benefit  - - 

Loss for the year   (607,373) (1,415,536) 
   
 

iv.  Segment assets and liabilities 
  Assets  Liabilities 

  
2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000 

       
Minerals exploration  (1)  - -  -  
       
Total segments       
Eliminations   -    
Unallocated  2,235,478 2,808,767  79,995 71,882 
Consolidated  2,235,478 2,808,767  79,995 71,882 
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(1) the Group’s accounting policy is to charge to the result for the period all expenditure incurred 
on mineral exploration activities, including costs associated with the acquisition of interests in 
exploration rights and projects.    

 
v.  Other segment information 

 Minerals exploration 
2009 
$’000 

2008 
$’000 

Acquisition of segment assets - 264,765 
Write-off or Amortisation  
of segment assets 

 
- 

 
(264,765) 

 
(b) Information on geographical segments 

 The Group’s one division operates in one principal area – Australia.   
 

  Consolidated Company 
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
9.  TAXATION     
(a) Income tax expense    
 Prima facie income tax benefit calculated at 30% on the 

(loss)  before tax  (182,212)
 

(424,661) 
 

(182,212) (424,661)
 Increase/decrease in income tax expense   
 Tax effect of:   
 Exploration expenditure and acquisition costs not 

deductible for tax purposes 
- 88,430 - 88,430

 Share based payments  - 7,500 - 7,500
 Non-Assessable gain on deconsolidation -  -
 Capital allowances – share issue costs (31,785) (31,785) (31,785) (31,785)
 Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination 

and reversal of temporary differences 600
 

(450) 
 

600 (450)
 Prima-facie income tax benefit (181,612) (360,966) (181,612) (360,966)
  

Deferred tax asset (on account of losses) not brought to 
account 

213,397
 

360,966 
 

 
213,397 360,966

 Income tax expense (benefit)  - - - -
 

(b) Deferred Tax Assets not taken to account 
The potential future income tax benefit arising from tax losses and timing differences has not been 
recognised as an asset because recovery of tax losses is not presently probable: 

 
Tax losses carried forward 1,213,387 951,553 946,877 765,265 
Unamortised balance of capital allowances 54,761 86,546 54,761 86,546 
Temporary differences 1,650 1,650 1,650 1,650 

 1,269,798 1,039,749 1,003,288 853,461 
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The potential future income tax benefit will only be obtained if: 
a) The Company and the subsidiary derives future assessable income of a nature and amount 

sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; 
b) The Company and the subsidiary continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility 

imposed by the law; and 
c) No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company or the subsidiary in realising the 

benefit. 
 
 

  Consolidated Company 
 Note 2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
10.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN HAND     
 Cash at bank  38,273 55,356 38,273 27,956
 Cash management account  1,014,485 2,573,078 1,014,485 2,573,078
 Term deposits  1,080,000 90,000 1,080,000 90,000
   2,132,758 2,718,434 2,132,758 2,718,434
 
 
 

 

The bank  term deposits mature within 12 months  and pay interest at a weighted average interest rate of 4.5% at 30 

June 2009. At the balance date $80,000 of these deposits were held by the bank in support of guarantees to the Ministry 

of Energy and Resources.  The guarantees were released after the balance date. 

 
 Reconciliation of cash 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to items in the 
balance sheet as follows: 

 

 Cash and cash equivalents  2,132,758 2,718,434 2,132,758 2,718,434
    
      
11.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES     
 Other receivables  35,932 - 35,932 -
 GST receivable  12,222 42,615 12,222 42,615
 

GST receivable  48,154 42,615 48,154 42,615
    
    
12. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS     
 Prepayments  36,582 47,718 36,582 47,718
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13. Property Plant & Equipment     
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amounts  2009 

  

 

(i) Consolidated Group: 

 Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses 

Total 
Carrying 

Value 

 Computers  4,250 (2,253) - 1,997

 Scientific Equipment  26,445 (10,458) - 15,997

 Total Property, Plant and Equipment  30,695 (12,711) - 17,984
  

(ii) Parent Entity   
 Computers  4,250 (2,253) - 1,997

 Scientific Equipment  26,445 (10,458) - 15,997

 Total Property, Plant and Equipment  30,695 (12,711) - 17,984
 

(b). 2009 Movements in Carrying Amounts 

 Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of 
the current financial year 

 Freehold Land Buildings Leasehold 
Improvements

Plant and 
Equipment 

Leased Plant 
and Equipment 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

(i) Consolidated Group:       

Balance at 1 July 2008  (net 
of accumulated depreciation) 

- - - 26,012 - 26,012

Additions - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - -

Depreciation expense - - - (8,028) - (8,028)

Balance at 30 June 2009 (net 
of accumulated depreciation) - - - 17,984 - 17,984

 

(ii) Parent Entity: 

      

Balance at 1 July 2007  (net 
of accumulated depreciation) 

- - - 26,012 - 26,012

Additions - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - -

Depreciation expense - - - (8,028) - (8,028)

Balance at 30 June 2009 (net 
of accumulated depreciation) - - - 17,984 - 17,984
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  Consolidated Company 

  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $ $ $ $ 
14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    
 Current    
 Trade creditors and accruals   67,208 47,634 67,208 47,634
 Other creditors and accruals  12,747 24,649 12,747 24,649
   79,955 72,283 79,955 72,283
  

 
15. ISSUED CAPITAL    
a. Issued and paid up share capital of 

48,600,000 ( 2008: 48,600,000) ordinary 
shares fully paid comprising: 13,606,028 13,606,028 13,606,028 13,606,028

     
 Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital 

from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not 
have a par value. 

b. Movement in Share Capital Number   
 Balance – 30 June 2007 47,600,000 13,788,957  13,788,957 
 Settlement of amount due under 

contract – residual for acquisition of 
Uranium JV 1,000,000 200,000  200,000 

 Balance – 30 June 2008 48,600,000 13,988,957  13,988,957 
     
 Balance – 30 June 2009 48,600,000 13,988,957  13,988,957 
 Share Issue costs  (382,929)  (382,929) 
   13,606,028  13,606,028 

 
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings.  
In the event of winding up of the Company ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and 
creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation 
 

16. OPTIONS OVER UNISSUED SHARES 
 

a. Options Granted 
 Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company granted options over unissued ordinary 

shares  to the following: 
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Issued to Exercise 
Price 

Number of Options 
Granted 

Expiry Date 

Current Directors (1) $0.20 1,000,000 31 December 2011 
Current Directors (2) $0.20 500,000 31 December 2011 
Other Employees and Consultants (3) $0.20 100,000 31 December 2011 
Toey Pty Ltd $0.20 250,000 31 December 2011 

 
(1) Issued 500,000 each to G Fethers and H Rutter – pursuant to the Director’s Option Scheme replacing options 

expiring during the year; 
(2) Issued 300,000, 100,000 & 100,000 to J Hamer, P Lewis and A Griffin respectively. 
(3) Issued 100,000 to D. Coleman  

 
b. Options Expired 
 During or since the end of the financial year, the following options over unissued ordinary shares 

expired unexercised: 
 

Expiry Date Exercise Price  Number of Options (i) 
31 December 2008 $0.50  876,260 

(i)  each option converts to one ordinary share on exercise 
 

c. Options exercised 
 No options over unissued ordinary shares were exercised during or since the end of the financial year. 

  
d. Options on Issue at balance date 
 At the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are: 

 
Expiry Date Exercise Price  Number of Options 

(i) 
30 November 2009 $0.30  2,600,000 
31 December 2009 $0.50  876,260 
31 December 2010 $0.20  1,850,000 
31 December 2011 $0.20  1,850,000 
31 March 2012 $0.50  2,500,000 
30 April 2012 $0.30  6,000,000 
  15,676,260 

(i)  each option converts to one ordinary share on exercise 

 
f. Fair Value of Share Based Payments 

 
The following options were issued to officers of the Company during the year in respect of services 
provided and employment agreements. 
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Expiry Date Exercise 

Price 
Expiry Date Number of 

Options granted 
(i) 

Number of 
Options Vested 
during the year 

Fair Value of 
Options 

granted and 
vested 

Directors      
G Fethers $0.20 31-Dec-11 500,000 500,000 - 
H Rutter $0.20 31-Dec-11 500,000 500,000 - 
A Griffin $0.20 31-Dec-11 100,000 100,000 - 
J Hamer $0.20 30-Dec-11 300,000 300,000 - 
P Lewis $0.20 30-Dec-11 100,000 100,000 - 
      
D Coleman (Sec) $0.20 31-Dec-1 100,000 100,000 - 
      

 
(i)  each option converts to one ordinary share on exercise 

 
The exercise price of the options granted which was set at a premium to the value of the underlying 
share at the time of issue.  The options are not dependent on the satisfaction of a performance hurdles. 
 
The valuation of the options granted and vested during the year employed a Hull-White enhanced 
trinomial lattice options pricing model using the following key data inputs. 

Series 20 cents : 31-Dec-11 

Deemed date of grant 3 November 2008 

Underlying Share Price 3.0 cents 

Volatility Range – 90% to 130% 

Risk Free Rate 5.75% 

Dividend Rate Nil 

Employee exit rate 0 
 
Because of the significant premium of the exercise price to the underlying share price at the date of 
grant, the options were determined not to be of any value. 
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  Consolidated Company 

  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $ $ $ $ 

 
17.   RESERVES     
 Equity settled employee benefits 145,000 145,000 145,000 145,000
    
 Equity-settled employee benefits reserve   
 Balance at beginning of financial year 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000
 Share-based payment expensed 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000
 Balance at end of financial year 145,000 145,000 145,000 145,000
  

The Equity-settled employee benefits reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share 

ns granted and vested. 

  Consolidated Company 

  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $ $ $ $ 

 
18.  CASH FLOW INFORMATION    
     
a. Reconciliation of cash flow from operation 

with profit after tax.    
 Cash assets 10 2,132,758 2,718,434 2,132,758 2,718,434
     
b. Reconciliation of (Loss) for the year to net 

cash (used in) operating activities    
 Profit/(Loss) from ordinary activities after Income 

Tax  (607,373) (1,415,536) (607,373) (1,415,536)
 Non Cash Credits / Charges    
 Gain on Debt forgiveness  -  -
 Depreciation  8,038 4,683 8,038 4,683
 Write-off or exploration project acquisition costs  - 264,765 - 264,765
 Share based payments expense  - 25,000 - 25,000
 Movement in other assets/liabilities    
 Decrease (Increase) in receivables  (5,539) 18,771  (5,539) 18,771 
 Decrease (Increase) in prepayments  11,136 (1,051) 11,136 (1,051)
 Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable   8,062 50,639 8,062 50,639
 Net Cash (used in) operating activities  (585,676) (1,052,729) (585,676) (1,052,730)

 
19. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS 

 
The Bulla joint venture agreement (“Bulla JV”) provides RLC with 100% interest in iron resources within 
tenements E70/2719 and E70/2720 which are registered in the name of Washington Resources Limited 
(Washington).  
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On 4 March 2009 RLC withdrew from the U3O8 Joint Venture and its interests in the joint venture were 
forfeited. The joint venture, which commenced on 7 February 2007 required RLC to sole fund 
exploration expenditure on tenements E80/3706, 3707, 3708 & 3939 in order to maintain a 90% interest 
in the joint venture.  
 
The Edward Creek Base Metals Joint Venture (“ECBMJV”) was terminated and all interests in the 
ECBMJV were forfeited to RLC on 9 June 2009. The termination of the joint venture is being disputed by 
the other joint venture parties. Prior to the termination of the joint venture RLC held a 62% interest in the 
tenements comprised of a 20% free carried interest and a 42% interest the maintenance of which was 
subject to contributions to joint venture expenditure. 
 
The Edward Creek and Balta project tenements, EL 3250, EL 3505 and EL 3886, are subject to a joint 
venture agreement, the Diamond Farm Out Agreement, which transfers all RLC’s interest in diamonds in 
these tenements to DiamondCo Limited. 
 

 

20. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
There have been no events after balance sheet date, which would have a material effect on the financial 

statements. 

 
21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

a. The names of each person holding the position of Director of Reedy Lagoon 
Corporation Limited during the financial year were: 
 

  

 G.H. Fethers   (appointed 24 September 1986) 
H. Rutter    (appointed 24 August 2000) 
J M Hamer   (appointed 9 May 2007) 
P  Lewis   (appointed 9 May 2007 : resigned  25 May 2009) 
A Griffin   (appointed 9 May 2007) 

 

  

 Directors’ transactions in shares and share options are detailed in the Directors’ Report. 
 

b. Other transactions with the consolidated entity:   
(i) Cropten Pty Ltd, a company of which Mr. Fethers and Mr. Rutter are directors and shareholders, provides 

office space and equipment, together with services including secretarial to the consolidated entity at normal 
commercial rates.  Total fees invoiced by Cropten during the June 2009 financial year to the Company, and 
the consolidated group, amounting to $35,710 were paid  (2008: $27,463)  
 

(ii) DiamondCo Limited. a company of which Mr. Fethers and Mr. Rutter are directors and shareholders, holds 
the rights to diamonds located on EL 3250, EL 3505 and EL 3886 through a joint venture agreement dated 
26 March 2007. Opportunities to reduce mobilisation costs and expand small scale programmes by 
combining field activities are exploited where possible. Where services for combined RLC & DiamondCo 
programmes are contracted RLC normally acts as principal and invoices DiamondCo on a cost recovery 
basis. RLC provides the services of Mr Fethers to DiamondCo at normal commercial rates. Total fees 
invoiced by RLC and the consolidated group during the June 2009 financial year to DiamondCo amounting 
to $13,784  were paid  (2008: $225,529)  
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(iii) Flagstaff GeoConsultants Pty Ltd, a company of which Mr. Fethers and Mr. Rutter are directors and 

shareholders, provides geological and geophysical services to the consolidated entity as required and at 
normal commercial rates. Total fees paid by the Company, and the consolidated group, during the June 
2009 financial year to Flagstaff amounting to $39,731 were paid  (2008: $52,350) 
 

(iv) Geophysical Exploration Consultants Pty Ltd (“GEC”) is a company associated with Mr. Rutter. GEC 
provides exploration services to the consolidated entity under a fixed retainer basis.  The Retainer 
Agreement was approved by non-associated directors on 1 May 2007 and is automatically renewed for a 
further 12 months unless terminated by the required notice.  Total fees invoiced by GEC during the June 
2009 financial year to the Company, and the consolidated group, amounting to $84,000 were paid  (2008: 
$96,000) (the amount has been included in directors remuneration to Mr Rutter). 
 

(v) Lewcorp Pty Ltd (“Lewcorp”), a company of which Mr P Lewis is a director and shareholder, provided 
corporate advisory and other services to RLC as required pursuant to a Consultancy Agreement operative 
from 1 May 2007.   Lewcorp was entitled to a fixed annual payment of $40,000 pursuant to the agreement, 
renewable annually.  The agreement was not renewed on 1  May 2009.  Payments (excl. GST) of $30,000 
were made to Lewcorp during the financial year (the amount has been included in directors remuneration to 
Mr Lewis). 
 

 
b. Other transactions with the consolidated entity (cont’d): 
(vi) Mallesons Stephen Jaques (“Mallesons”), a firm of which Mr J M Hamer is a partner, provided 

professional legal services to the Company during the financial year in respect of agreements and 
other matters.  Total payments (excl. GST) to Mallesons during the financial period amounted to 
$4,328 (2008: $ 17,510).    
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

a. Capital Risk Management 

 RLC’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the consolidated group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and exploit the mineral assets under its control in order to provide future returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
 
The group continuously reviews the capital structure to ensure:- 
• sufficient funds are available to implement its exploration expenditure programs in accordance 

with forecasted needs; and 
• sufficient funds for the other operational needs of the group is maintained. 
 

b. Financial Risk Management Policies 

 The group’s financial instruments consist of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable. 

 The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for group operations. 

 The group does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2009. 

  Financial Risks 

  The main risks the group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and credit risk. 

  Interest rate risk 

  There are no financial liabilities wherein the Group is exposed to interest rate risk.  Financial assets 
interest rate risk is managed by investing only floating rate bank securities. 

  Liquidity risk 

  The group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate 
funds are maintained. 

  Credit risk 

  The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at 
balance date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
The group only invests in listed available-for-sale financial assets issued by Australian trading 
banks. 
 
The risk for counterparties included in trade and other receivables at 30 June 2009 is detailed 
below: 
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222. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 

c. Financial Instruments 

 

 
(i) Derivative Financial Instruments 
The group does not use derivative financial instruments, forward exchange contracts or interest 
rate swaps 

 (ii) Composition and Maturity Analysis 
 The tables below reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a 

fixed period of maturity, as well as management expectations of the settlement period for all other 
financial instruments. As such, the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet. 

 
 
2009 – Consolidated Group & Parent Entity 
 

2009 

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate 
Variable 

interest rate 

Fixed maturity dates 

Non 
interest 
bearing Total 

Less than 1 
year 

1-2 
years 

2-3 
years 

3-4 
years 

4-5 
years 

5+ 
year

s 
% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial 
assets           
          
Cash and cash 
equivalents 4.0 1,052,758 1,080,000 - - - - - - 2,132,758 
Other 
receivables  - - - - - - - - 48,154 48,154 
  1,052,758 1,080,000 - - - - - 48,154 2,181,192 
Financial 
liabilities           
          
Trade payables  - - - - - - - - 79,995 79,995 
    - - - - - 79,995 79,995 
 
2008 - Consolidated Group & Parent Entity 
 

2008 

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate 
Variable 

interest rate 

Fixed maturity dates 

Non 
interest 
bearing Total 

Less than 1 
year 

1-2 
yea
rs 

2-3 
years 

3-4 
years 

4-5 
years 

5+ 
years 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Financial 
assets           
           
Cash and 
cash 
equivalents 7.0 2,628,434 90,000 - - - - - - 2,718,434 
Other 
receivables  - - - - - - - - 42,615 42,615 
  2,628,434 90,000 - - - - - 42,615 2,761,049 
Financial 
liabilities           
           
Trade 
payables  - - - - - - - - 47,233 47,233 
    - - - - - 47,233 47,233 
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
Credit risk in relation to trade and other receivables is assessed as follows:-  

 Consolidated Group Parent Entity 

 2009 2008 2009 2008 

 $ $ $ $ 

AA rated counterparties (government) 12,222 42,615 12,222 42,615

Counterparties not rated 35,932 - 35,932 -

Total 48,154 42,615 48,154 42,615
 

 Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid as follows:  
 Consolidated Group Parent Entity 

 2009 2008 2009 2008 

 $ $ $ $ 

Less than 6 months 79,995 47,233 79,995 47,233

6 months to 1 year - -

1 - 5 years - -

Over 5 years - -

Total 79,995 47,233 79,995 47,233

 
 iii. Net Fair Values 

  The net fair values of: 

  — Term receivables, government and fixed interest securities and bonds are determined by 
discounting the cash flows, at the market interest rates of similar securities, to their 
present value. 

  — Other loans and amounts due are determined by discounting the cash flows, at market 
interest rates of similar borrowings, to their present value. 

  — Other assets and other liabilities approximate their carrying value. 

  No financial assets or financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in 
standardised form other than listed investments, forward exchange contracts and interest rate 
swaps. 

  Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values have not been written 
down as the consolidated group intends to hold these assets to maturity. 
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222. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 

Aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date. 

 2009 2008 

 Carrying 
Amount 

$ 

Net Fair Value
 

$ 

Carrying 
Amount 

$ 

Net Fair Value
 

$ 

Financial Assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value - -

Held-to-maturity financial assets  2,132,758 2,132,758 2,718,434 2,718,434

Derivative financial assets  - -

Loans and receivables  48,154 48,154 42,615 42,615

 2,180,912 2,180,912 2,761,049 2,761,049

Financial Liabilities 

Other loans and amounts due - -

Other liabilities 79,995 79,995 72,283 72,283

 79,995 79,995 72,283 72,283

 

 

Interest rate risk 
The Company has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk which 
demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could result from a change in these 
risks. 
 
At 30 June 2009, the effect on profit(loss) and equity as a result of changes in the interest rates during 
the year with all other variables remaining constant would be as follows; 

 

 Consolidated Company 

   

 2009 

$ 

2008 

$ 

2009 

$ 

2008 
$ 

Change in Loss for the Year 

- Increase interest rates by 1%  24,077 33,286 24,077 33,286 

   

 - Decrease in interest rates by 1% (24,077) (33,286) (24,077) (33,286) 

   

Change in Equity   

- Increase interest rates by 1%  24,077 33,286 24,077 33,286 

   

 - Decrease in interest rates by 1% (24,077) (33,286) (24,077) (33,286) 
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23.  EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 
 
Ongoing annual exploration expenditure is required to maintain title to the Company’s mineral exploration 
tenements.  No provision has been made in the accounts for these amounts as the amounts are expected 
to be fulfilled in the normal course of the operations of the Company. 
 
Tenement expenditure is dependent upon exploration results and available cash resources.  Expenditure 
commitments are also impacted upon and may be reduced where access to areas has been restricted by the 
existence of Native Title claims.  At the date of this report claims for Native Title in respect of areas of all RLC’s 
granted tenements except  E70/2719, E70/2720  and E70/2846 have been made under the Native Title Act. 
The area covered by EL 24885 (an application) is on Aboriginal Freehold land and there is no guarantee that 
the owners will give their consent and thereby allow the Company’s planned programme to proceed although a 
draft access agreement, prepared by the Central Lands Council on behalf of the owners, has been presented to 
RLC.    

 
The Statutory minimum expenditure requirement for the current twelve month tenures in relation to each of 
the tenements, including applications, listed in the Tenement Schedule on page 10 of the Annual report   
is $ 542,750 (2008: $1,174,050). Of this amount, $462,000 relates to granted tenements.  
 
Exploration Licence 3505 includes land that is within the Woomera Prohibited Area. All exploration and 
mining activities within the Woomera Prohibited Area are subject to an agreement with the Commonwealth 
of Australia. A Deed of Access between the Company and the Commonwealth was executed on 26 May 
2009. 
 
Exploration Licence 3208 (surrendered 28/01/2009) incorporated land that is Reserved Forest set aside 
under Section 50 of the Forest Act 1958 as part of the Thomson River Forest Reserve (Gaz 1984 P235).  
The Licence area is within the Thomson Catchment and is subject to a Land Use Determination pursuant 
to section 23 of the Soil Conservation and Land Utilization Act 1958. Rehabilitation of all areas disturbed in 
the course of the Company’s exploration has been completed and all security bonds have been released 
to the Company.    
 
Exploration Licences 3032, 3281 and 3376 (surrendered 28/01/2009) covered or included areas which 
comprise part of the Chiltern – Mt Pilot National Park. Exploration and mining activities within this Park 
were conducted with the consent of the Minister for Sustainability and Environment under Section 40 of 
the National Parks Act, 1975. Rehabilitation of all areas disturbed in the course of the Company’s 
exploration has been completed and all security bonds have been released to the Company.    
 
The Statutory expenditure requirement is subject to negotiation with the relevant state department, and 
expenditure commitments may be varied between tenements, or reduced subject to reduction of 
exploration area and/or relinquishment of non-prospective tenements.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REEDY LAGOON CORPORATION LIMITED 
ACN 006 639 514 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 

 

53 

 
24. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 
a. Interest in controlled entities: 

Name Country of 
incorporation 

Ordinary share  
consolidated entity interest 

  2009 
% 

2008
% 

Osprey Gold Pty Ltd.  (1) Australia 100 100 
 

(1) Osprey Gold is dormant and acted  as the registered proprietor of exploration licences covering the Chiltern 

and Jericho gold projects. During the report period the Chiltern and Jericho tenements were surrendered. 

All guarantees (and security bonds) provided in respect of these projects have been cancelled and 

returned at the date of this report. 
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 2 September 2009. 
 

Number of holders of equity securities 
Ordinary share capital 

48,600,000 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 526 individual shareholders. 
 
All issued ordinary shares are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange.   
No ordinary shares on issue are subject to escrow restrictions.
All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the equivalent rights to dividends. 
 
 
In addition to the ordinary shares on issue there are 15,676,260 options issued (not quoted). Details are of 
these options are provided in note 16 to the financial statements. 
 
    
Substantial shareholders    
    

Substantial Shareholders 

Number of 
Fully Paid 

Ordinary 
Shares  

% of total 
on issue 

  Number  
Geof Fethers:    
                       Pyrope Holdings Pty Ltd 6,401,500  13.17 
                       Ranview Pty Ltd 341,270  0.70 
                       G Fethers 5,010  0.01 
Sked Pty Ltd 4,250,000  8.74 
Washington Resources Limited 4,000,000  8.23 
 14,997,780  30.86 
    
 
Distribution of holders of equity securities: 
 

 
No. of 

shareholders % 
No. of Ordinary 

Shares  

Percentage 
of Issued 

Shares 
1 – 1,000 10 1.9 2,599 0.01 
1,001 – 5,000 35 6.67 125,692 0.26 
5,001 – 10,000 97 18.48 870,052 1.79 
10,001 – 100,000 323 61.52 9,776,608 20.12 
100,001 and over  60 11.43 37,825,049 77.83 
 525 100.00 48,600,000 100.00 
     
There were 172 shareholders who held less than a marketable parcel of shares.  On 2 September those 
172 shareholders collectively held 1,364,523 shares.  A less than marketable parcel of shares at 2 
September 2009 was a holding of less than 13,514 shares. 
 



REEDY LAGOON CORPORATION LIMITED 
ACN 006 639 514 
 
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 

55 

 
Twenty largest shareholders 
as at 2 September 2009 

 No. of  Quoted 
Ordinary  Shares 

% of total 
quoted 

Pyrope Holdings Pty Ltd 6,401,500 13.17 

Washington Resources Limited 4,000,000 8.23 

Sked Pty Ltd 3,250,000 6.69 

Australian Amalgamated Holdings Pty Ltd 2,000,320 4.12 

Elsinore Nominees Pty Ltd 2,000,000 4.12 

Jagen Pty Ltd 1,300,000 2.67 

Elstree Holdings Pty Ltd 1,300,000 2.67 

Mr Anthony Robert Ramage 1,100,000 2.26 

Paso Holdings Pty Ltd 1,091,866 2.25 

Richall Pty Ltd 1,000,000 2.06 

Sked Pty Ltd <Super Fund A/C> 1,000,000 2.06 

Philip Harold Lewis 813,670 1.67 

Ms Tina Schiavello 800,000 1.65 

Mr Brett Armstrong  728,545 1.50 

Mr Anthony Ramage  633,000 1.30 

Janavid Pty Ltd  625,900 1.29 

Mr Joseph Lutvey 500’000 1.03 

DBR Corporation Pty Ltd 500,000 1.03 

Clinical Cell Culture Limited 488,200 1.00 

Pelican Point Superannuation Fund 479,860 0.99 

Total top  20 29,651,209 61.01 

Total Other Investors 18,948,791 38.99 

TOTAL: 48,600,000 100.00 
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